





# PROMOTING PATIENT SAFETY THROUGH MINIMISING MISSED NURSING CARE

A RECOMMENDED GOOD PRACTICE GUIDANCE FOR NURSE MANAGERS





# RAUL CORDEIRO, MARCIA KIRWAN, CLARE HARVEY, CRISTOBAL RENGEL-DIAZ, MARIA PILAR FUSTER, OLGA RIKLIKIENE

# PROMOTING PATIENT SAFETY THROUGH MINIMISING MISSED NURSING CARE

A RECOMMENDED GOOD PRACTICE GUIDANCE FOR NURSE MANAGERS

### Written and compiled by authors:

RAUL CORDEIRO, PhD, RN, MSc, Polytechnic Institute of Portalegre, Portugal, *raulcordeiro@ipportalegre.pt* (Coordinator)

MARCIA KIRWAN, PhD, MSc, RGN, School of Nursing, Psychotherapy and Community Health, Dublin City University, Ireland.

CLARE HARVEY, PhD, RH, BA(Cur), MA, Central Queensland University, Australia

CRISTOBAL RENGEL-DIAZ, PhD. RN, Midwife, Virgen de la Victoria Universitary Hospital Málaga, Associate Professor Malaga University, Spain

MARIA PILAR FUSTER, PhD, RN, Nursing Department, Universitat Internacional de Catalunya, Barcelona, Spain

OLGA RIKLIKIENE (Lithuania), PhD, RN, BSN, MSPH, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Lithuania

#### **Contributors**

The RANCARE Consortium: Cost Action 15208 'Rationing: Missed Nursing care – An international and multidimensional problem' (2016–2020)

## **Special acknowledgement**

The authors of this document would like to express special appreciation and recognition to the COST Action Rancare Chair Prof. EVRIDIKI PAPASTAVROU from the Cyprus University of Technology (Cyprus) for her continual support during this project. Her leadership, recommendations, insights and comments were instrumental to the successful achievement of results.

This document is available at RANCARE website https://www.rancare-action.eu/

- © RAUL CORDEIRO, 2020
- © MARCIA KIRWAN, 2020
- © CLARE HARVEY, 2020
- © CRISTOBAL RENGEL-DIAZ, 2020
- © MARIA PILAR FUSTER, 2020
- © OLGA RIKLIKIENE, 2020

### **Reviewed by:**

#### IRIS MEYENBURG-ALTWARG

President - European Nurse Directors Association

'As we know, ongoing challenges in securing adequate level of nursing staffs in Europe results most of times with mixed level of nursing competencies and skills. Timely identification of missed nursing care is very much needed to ensure and maintain best of quality care, however the main challenge always remain as to know the indicators and factors.

This Guidance has clearly spelled out various methods to identify missed cares through variety of Indicators and Outcomes, also stressed upon its relevance and considerations to Nurse Managers. I sincerely appreciate all the research authors, RANCARE Consortium and last but not least, Rancare Chair Prof. Evridiki Papastavrou who has been instrumental to the successful achievement of this result.

I am sure this research would certainly help many of our health care colleagues. Would suggest to roll out a handy document for quick reference and to reach out extensively.'

#### **JACQUELINE FILKINS**

Professor Honorary President, ENDA Hon. Fellow University of Cumbria

'The value of this guide is the clarity and reasoned approach that brings together all areas which can lead to mistakes and omissions. It is not judgemental but gives guidance on how problems could be approached, measured and what steps need to be considered to avoid a repeat.

Although it is aimed as a guide for good practice for nurse managers, it is my view that it should reach a much wider audience and include decision-making bodies in the field of health care planning, funding and regulation.

It is of particular interest to read that where the work environment and professional as well as personal autonomy are valued, good leadership is more effective in managing the effects of work which has been left undone.

This valuable and robustly researched guide of good practice is, in my view, equally relevant for nurse managers in acute care settings as in homecare/community environments.

ENDA should be proud to wholeheartedly support this work and help to promote it widely'.

# **CONTENTS**

EXE	CUTIVE SUMMARY	6
1	OVERVIEW	8
2	BACKGROUND	10 e 12
3	DEVELOPMENTAL PROCESS	16
4	THE GUIDANCE DOCUMENT	19
5	LIMITATIONS	25
6	ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS	26
7	GLOSSARY	27
8	REFERENCES USED IN THE DOCUMENT AND FOR GUIDANCE TO READERS	28
	<ul><li>8.1 Missed nursing care explained</li><li>8.2 Nurse manager influence on missed or rationed nursing</li></ul>	
	8.3 Management and decision-making. Information technology (IT) tools	
	8.4 Normative/legal support	
	8.5 Theoretical background for indicators	
9	APPENDIX 1 – QUESTIONNAIRE FOR MANAGERS	39
10	APPENDIX 2 – CHECKLIST FOR THIS GUIDANCE DOCUMENT	46

# TABLES

TABLE 1:	PROCESS OF CONSULTATION IN DEVELOPING	
•	THE GUIDANCE DOCUMENT	. 16
TABLE 2:	RESULTS OF THE QUESTIONNAIRE	. 17
TABLE 3:	INDICATORS FOR MISSED NURSING CARE	. 20
TABLE 4:	FACTORS TO CONSIDER IN PREVENTING MISSED	
	NURSING CARE	. 21
TABLE 5:	MONITORING PATIENT OUTCOMES	. 22
TABLE 6:	MONITORING NURSE OUTCOMES	. 23
TABLE 7:	MONITORING ORGANISATIONAL OUTCOMES	. 24

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

This document was developed as a result of a European Union COST Action project which aimed at facilitating discussion and increasing focus on the issue of missed or rationed nursing care (RANCARE Cost Action 15208 'Rationing: Missed Nursing care – An international and multidimensional problem', 2016–2020). Rationing of nursing care occurs when resources that should be available for nurses to carry out care activities, are insufficient to provide necessary care to all patients, resulting in care being implicitly prioritised, rationalised or missed. This phenomenon is now known as a result of work intensification which creates an environment where allocation of human, time and material resources directly related to care activity is not sufficient to meet care demands, for example, reduced staff numbers, skill mix variation not meeting the acuity related needs of patients, increased demands for care, or a changing patient profile. The results of these organisational policies are that nurses on a shift are forced to implicitly prioritise, ration or miss care and to work harder with less support. It is also known that such work environments not only negatively impact on nurses' capacity to deliver care effectively, but also affect capacity of organisations to retain staff, and contributes to patient morbidity and mortality.

Nursing leaders and managers in clinical settings are also faced with the challenges resulting from work intensification, because they are tasked with managing nursing staff and bed availability. Mandates to maintain clinical governance and patient safety often come within set human and resource targets, regardless of increasing care demands. Despite these directives, nurse managers have an opportunity to ensure that their concerns are heard, by monitoring and reporting situations on a shift that may result in care left undone.

In order to do this, nurse managers need to understand the antecedents of missed nursing care and to engage with available evidence to understand:

- the levels of missed or rationed care within their units,
- the patient, nurse and organisational outcomes associated with missed care,
- the resources or interventions required to enable the delivery of high quality, safe patient care and minimize missed nursing care.

This document is intended to provide nurse managers with an outline of relevant data sources which examine and contextualise the impact of missed care. Critically it contains a number of suggestions for data gathering and interventions which may help them to support and give nurses some orientations to make effective decisions when faced with challenges or shortages. It is not prescriptive, rather it should be seen as a practical guidance designed to support managers and nurses in clinical leadership positions in all care settings, to address the antecedents of missed and rationed care.

This document provides some orientations related to organisational policies that may help prevent or minimise missed care events within their authority. These recommendations include information on staffing levels and skill mix, audit and quality measurement tools, and education and training interventions.

This document is likely to be of interest to some of the following:

- National Nursing Associations
- Regulatory bodies on nursing and health
- Nurse Managers at all levels
- > Health professionals
- Hospital managers, health care institutions
- Quality departments
- Nurse educators and their professional associations
- Nursing students (undergraduate and postgraduate levels)
- Nurses in clinical leadership positions

#### 1 **OVERVIEW**

This document was developed by the members of Workgroup 4 (Educational issues and training) who are involved with the European Union (EU) funded project, COST Action CA15208, aimed at facilitating discussion and increasing focus on the issue of missed and rationed nursing care (RANCARE Cost Action 15208 'Rationing: Missed Nursing care – An international and multidimensional problem'). The action is hosted by Cyprus University of Technology and managed by Professor Evridiki Papastavrou and a management committee (made up of two representatives per country) (https://www.rancare-action.eu/).

RANCARE includes more than 50 health care professionals from 30 countries in Europe, America and Oceania. The research work is organized into four working groups (WG) as follows:

- > WG1 on Conceptualization, Organizational, Methodological Issues
- WG2 on Evidence-based interventions and intervention design
- WG3 on Ethical Issues of Rationing of nursing care
- > WG4 on Educational issues and Training

This document was developed by Working Group four (WG4) to support nursing managers and clinical nursing leaders in their efforts to create secure practice environments and to try to manage and minimise the clinical incidences and professional anxiety created as a result of missed or rationed nursing care. Missed nursing care has negative implications for the nursing profession, for patients and for healthcare organisations. For the nursing profession, missed nursing care breaches nursing standards of practice (Harvey et al., 2017); for patients, it is associated with poor clinical outcomes for patients (Papastavrou et al., 2014a; Bail & Grealish, 2016); and for organisations, quality assurance is threatened (Schubert et al. 2013; Jangland et al. 2018; Willis et al., 2018).

The primary goal of this document is to give to nursing managers one more helpful tool in selecting the best management and leadership strategies to reduce levels of missed or rationed nursing care through supportive workplace environments. This aims to be a challenging and inspiring document, but ultimately, a realistic and practical instrument for nurse managers to adopt in any setting and across all health services.

The aims of this guidance document are to:

- stimulate awareness among nurses and nurse managers about patient safety, missed care and its impacts;
- provide a guidance for reducing episodes of missed care by providing a set of indicators; and,
- > stimulate ideas and priorities for quality improvement and research.

The objectives of this guidance is to support and facilitate appropriate and effective decision making by nurse managers around resource allocation, staff wellbeing, care provision and patient safety which in turn should result in reduced levels of missed or rationed care across health services.

#### 2 BACKGROUND

### 2.1 Missed nursing care explained

The concepts of missed nursing care (Kalish, 2006; Kalish et al., 2009), unfinished care (Jones et al., 2015), nursing care left undone or omitted (Ausserhofer et al., 2013), along with the rationing of nursing care (Schubert et al., 2007; Jones, 2015; Papastavrou et al., 2014a,b) continue to be discussed in the health literature with increasing frequency since first noted through the work of the International Hospital Outcomes Research Consortium (IHORC) in 2001 (Aiken et al., 2001). Missed, rationed or unfinished care is frequently associated with insufficient resources (mainly time or staffing levels) or supports, which compel nurses to make in-the-moment decisions about which patient care is urgently needed and which can be left undone if there is no time or not enough staff (Harvey et al., 2017).

Missed or rationed nursing care is defined and understood through models proposed by both Kalisch et al. (2009) and Schubert et al. (2007) and occurs in response to organisational triggers or circumstances that negatively affect nurses' capacity to carry out care activity. Factors which result in care being missed are not simply a reduction in workforce allocations or material resource availability but also factors related to the work environment itself (Aiken et al., 2013; Ausserhofer et al., 2014; Schubert et al., 2013). Measures of the quality of the work environment in which nurses work, includes attitude of the team towards their colleagues, and towards their work, nursing leadership (both at unit level and hospital level), and the experience and mix of the staff, related to work required. Where nursing leadership is seen to be effective and staffing levels appropriate to ward/department activity, patients report higher satisfaction levels and reduced levels of reported adverse events (Wong et al., 2013). Supportive leadership is linked to higher nurse motivation and to better patient outcomes (Aiken et al., 2012; Bruyneel et al., 2015). Effective nursing leadership has also been associated with resilience in the workforce, where, even in challenging times, whether through work intensification or high levels of emotional stress, the team copes better

than in those areas where there is poor nursing leadership (Hegney et al., 2019). However, even in areas with effective leadership, where there is consistently high level of work intensification and ongoing care rationalisation, burnout of staff and increased levels of clinical incidents have been reported (Rees et al., 2015; Harvey et al., 2017).

Instruments to measure the prevalence of missed and rationed care, include the Tasks Undone scale (TU-7 or the extended version TU-13 as used in the RN4CAST study) (Aiken et al., 2001; Ball et al., 2014), the Basel Extent of Rationing of Nursing Care (BERNCA) (Schubert et al., 2007), the Perceived Implicit Rationing of Nursing Care (PIRNCA) (Jones, 2014), and the MISSCARE instrument (Kalisch & Williams, 2009).

Findings from these studies, identify that in the acute care sector, between 55% and 98% of nurses report episodes of missed or rationed care (Jones et al., 2015; Henderson et al., 2016; Harvey et al., 2018), with empirical evidence also showing confirmed adverse outcomes for patients (Aiken et al., 2018; Ausserhofer et al., 2013; Bail & Grealish, 2016; Ball et al., 2018; Kalisch et al., 2012; Lucero et al., 2010; Schubert et al., 2008; Schubert et al., 2009; Schubert et al., 2013). Evidence of missed nursing care in community and residential care facilities is also now emerging (Gilbert & Jeong-Ah, 2018; Phelan et al., 2018). Lower levels of rationing are associated with better outcomes for patients (Papastavrou et al., 2014a; Schubert et al., 2008; Ball et al., 2018). Conversely, negative patient outcomes include increased patient falls and infections, medication errors, higher mortality levels, lower reported levels of quality of care, and lower patient satisfaction.

The patient safety and quality of care implications of patient care left undone or rationed care are widely discussed, along with the impact on nurse well-being. Higher levels of care left undone are associated with higher levels of nurse burnout, intention to leave, and dissatisfaction with the job and the profession (Ausserhofer et al., 2013; Ball et al., 2016; Kalisch et al., 2011). In addition, nurses may experience an ethical burden as a result of leaving care undone. They report feelings of guilt and moral distress associated with taking decisions which ultimately compromise patient care (Papastavrou et al., 2014b; Harvey et al., 2017). At an organizational

level nursing staff turnover rates also increase, and patient satisfaction levels fall. Patient satisfaction, an acknowledged measure of quality of care, is known to be impacted by even low levels of care omissions (Kalisch et al., 2012).

## 2.2 Nurse manager influence on missed or rationed nursing care

In this section the areas of nurse manager influence are explored briefly in relation to the available evidence. Nurse managers at unit and hospital level have responsibilities in relation to staffing levels, skill mix, support, leadership and advocacy on behalf of the team. All of these responsibilities are relevant to the nurse manager's role in minimizing missed nursing care events. However, it is also known that sometimes the system is such that nurse managers find it difficult to advocate for nurses, particularly in cases where there are significant austerity measures in place (Karanikolos et al., 2013; Willis et al., 2017). Greater transparency around missed care, effective leadership skills and supportive relationships with staff can help reduce missed care (McCauley et al., 2020).

Research now shows that missed nursing care is prevalent across all European and OECD countries (Aiken et al., 2013; Ausserhofer et al., 2014; Schubert et al., 2013). Evidence shows that where the practice environment is positive, the levels of care left undone are more effectively managed (Ball et al., 2014). Moreover, a positive work environment in which nurses are afforded a high level of professional and personal autonomy, feelings of value and support are engendered. In these cases, good leadership has been seen to contribute to less staff illness, improved resilience and coping with unpredictable situations, and good patient outcomes (Rees et al., 2015). Thus, effective teamwork is an essential element in counterbalancing the effects of care, missed or rationed (Yanchus et al., 2017) Thus, good leadership at all levels contributes to positive interventions to create enhanced working environments, lower levels of missed care, higher levels of patient safety, higher quality of nursing care and an overall increase in patient satisfaction (Lake & Friese, 2006; Aiken et al., 2012).

Streamlining care processes and activities have been embedded in hospital systems since the early 1980's (Georgescu, 2011). The aim was

to reduce the amount of indirect work the nurse was to do, affording more time at the bedside (Ausserhofer et al., 2014). In nursing, the view of 'success' of such activity is divided, with questions around its efficacy being raised, particularly in work intensification where nurses are known to be working harder with less, meaning less time at the bedside and increased incidences of missed nursing care. For nurse managers, this tension presents its challenges, knowing that organizational targets must be met, but that missed nursing care is evident. It is often left to the nurse managers to make decisions about how best to manage workload and staffing, and what skills mix is required to support optimum patient safety (Henderson et al., 2016). A focus on skill mix including both nurse assistant grades and administration staff might help reduce the levels of non-nursing work carried out by nursing staff (Jacob et al., 2015).

Lower levels of care left undone can be found in in which nurses work less overtime (Bruyneel et al., 2015). Nurses working for ≥12 hours (are more likely to report poor or failing patient safety, lower quality of care, and more care activities left undone (Griffiths et al., 2014). Griffiths et al. (2014) outlines that the use of nurse overtime working to address staffing shortages may result in reduced quality of care overall. The use of nurse overtime should be considered by nurse managers with due attention paid to potential unintended consequences, related poor performance and burnout of nurses as a result of exhaustion (Brunetto & Teo, 2013).

Reduced patient to nurse ratios are associated with increased care quality and better patient satisfaction (Aiken et al., 2012). Ball et al (2014) suggests the use of a nurse-rated assessment of 'missed care' as an early warning measure to identify wards with inadequate nurse staffing. The use of innovative and reliable nurse staffing planning tools could be adopted by nurse managers to ensure the workforce meets the needs of the patients in the unit.

By paying attention to nurses' concerns, managers may be better placed to understand levels of missed care (McCauley, 2020). Evidence suggests that in healthcare missed nursing care is commonplace, but the phenomenon often goes unacknowledged by nurses (Kalisch et al., 2009). If nurses do not highlight the issue within their workplaces there is

a danger that frequently missed care could become the norm, with some nursing work disappearing entirely (Bagnasco et al, 2017). Nurse leaders can assist in making explicit the issue of missed care within the workplace. Where nurses feel empowered and encouraged to pass on information between shifts about care left undone or rationed, episodes of missed care can be addressed by the incoming nurse. Effective teamwork and open communication around the issues can help reduce the frequency of care being missed (Srulovici &d Drach-Zahavy, 2017; Bragadottir et al., 2017; Kalisch et al., 2013). Supportive management and effective teamwork may equally help alleviate guilt and moral distress felt by nurses who cannot meet all their patients' needs.

# 2.3 Nurse manager and decision-making. Information technology (IT) tools

Nurse managers make decisions within their field of responsibility which can impact either positively or negatively on levels of missed nursing care in units and organisations. Often however, managers work within organisational confines with pre-defined numbers and skill mix. It is imperative that nurse managers also consider their responsibilities in regarding professional standards of practice and patient safety when communicating with organisational managers (Alleyne & Jumaa, 2007). Also they can be helped by the share-decision-making model that was based on the principles of accountability, equity, ownership, and partnership, and designed to support staff members in right decision-making at the point of service (Golanowski et al., 2007).

Health information systems assist health professionals to process, store and distribute information in order to inform the decision-making process. Information technology (IT) based tools aim to contribute to data sharing that can assist in the improvement of quality, efficiency and effectiveness of the health system, enabling the implementation of research, with evidence to support teaching. In modern health care systems nurse managers engage with IT interfaces to assist them in their work to varying degrees. It is generally accepted that the effective use of such tools can enhance management practices in healthcare if used

effectively. Nurse managers should utilise IT systems to draw on data that supports evidence of missed and rations care, and to use this information when making decisions regarding care activity requirements.

Nurse Managers should also be aware of the team environment in the ward/department as this will influence decision making processes. Brave decisions are those that managers make, when attitudinal issues in the team clash with resourcing issues. In these situations, nurse leaders need to be able to balance the debate with decision-making is informed and in accordance with all factors impacting on the situation. Opportunities should be provided for nurses to engage with hospital level decision making through committee membership or project work (Daly et al., 2014).

# 3 DEVELOPMENTAL PROCESS

This section will outline the process of inquiry used to come up with a set of recommendations from which this guide for nurse managers was developed.

# 3.1 Developmental process

This document was developed by the team in WG4 of the RANCARE research consortium. The framework was that of reductionist discussion and collaboration across a series of meetings and events related to RANCARE activity as outlined below.

TABLE 1: PROCESS OF CONSULTATION IN DEVELOPING THE GUIDANCE DOCUMENT

Date of activity	Activity
February 2017	RANCARE Conference, Cyprus     Presentation of an idea regarding the development of a guidance document for nurse managers to support them in their work to address the problem of missed care. This followed a discussion about the value of good leadership in regard to minimizing missed nursing care.
October 2017	<ul> <li>RANCARE working groups meeting, Prague</li> <li>The writing group representing WG4 was agreed upon – Prof. Raul Cordeiro (Portugal) and including Olga Riklikiene (Lithuania), Marcia Kirwan (Ireland), Cristóbal Rengel Diaz and Maria Pilar Fuster (Spain).</li> <li>A review of the literature was commenced</li> </ul>
January 2018	<ul> <li>Meeting of the writing group, Barcelona</li> <li>Proposed outline and structure</li> <li>Draft sections developed by group through first half of 2018</li> </ul>
September 2018	RANCARE WG4 workshop, Malaga, Spain  The draft guidance document was presented to the working group and nurses from industry, with discussion from members of the workshop
October 2018	RANCARE Training School, Dublin, Ireland  The draft was presented and discussed with nurses and educators from university and industry attending the school.
October 2018	RANCARE Management Committee and Core Group Meeting, Porto, Portugal.  • The document was presented and ratified by RANCARE management.
February 2019	<ul> <li>RANCARE local workshop, Paphos, Cyprus</li> <li>The updated document was presented to academic and nursing representatives for discussion</li> <li>Development of a validation questionnaire given to professionals attending the workshop (n=15), the results from which are described below.</li> </ul>

#### 3.2 The validation instrument

In February 2019 a pilot questionnaire (Appendix 1) was developed which aimed to validate the relevance of indicators identified and contained in following tables (Tables 1 to 5).

The questionnaire (with fifty-nine items) was developed through discussion with a wider expert team and was distributed to 15 nurses attending the workshop in Paphos, Cyprus in February 2019.

These items were based upon the recommendations and themes that emerged from the consultations and factors considered relevant for nurse managers. The questionnaire was developed in English and then translated into Greek. The translation into Greek resulted in a total of 54 items. Each item was rated on a Likert scale of between 1 and 4, where 1 was considered "not important" and 4 was considered "very important".

All items were rated as important with an average level of 3.7 points. The less scored items obtained a level of 3.3 and the most scored ones a level of 4.0 points.

TABLE 2: RESULTS OF THE QUESTIONNAIRE

Topic	Scores
Nurse staffing levels and skill mix	Scored above average and only 3 of them were scored below the mean value by one or more respondents: <i>Consider nurses</i> hours/patient day (3.3), <i>Consider individual nurse workload</i> (3.5), <i>Consider nurse experience levels (3.7)</i> .
Nursing leadership	Scored above average and only 2 of them were scored below the mean value by one or more respondents: Consider a measure of leadership capability using appropriate tools (3.5), Adopt measures of decision-making to increase accountability, ownership, equity and partnership within the team (3.7).
Quality of the practice environment	Scored below the mean value by two respondents: Consider a measure of the quality of the Practice Environment using an appropriate tool (3.5).
Assess, Plan, Implement and Evaluate	Scored above average and only 4 of them were scored below the mean value by one or more respondents: Consider use of taxonomy (ICNP, NANDA (3.5), Consider a theoretical framework for decision making at all levels (3.4), Consider an ethical framework for decision making (3.7), Evaluate if skill mix and delegation decisions are appropriate (3.5).
Patient satisfaction	Scored above average.
Adverse incidents occurrence – Patient	Scored above average and only one of them were scored below the mean value by one or more respondents: Consider analysis of safety culture at unit and organisational level (3.3).

Торіс	Scores
Length of stay	Scored above average and only one of them were scored below the mean value by one or more respondents: <i>Consider an organisational trigger for episodes of extended length of stay (3.5).</i>
Quality of care	Scored below the mean value by one respondent: Consider an overall rating scale for quality of care measurement (3.7).
Job satisfaction, Intent to leave and Burnout levels	Scored above average and only one of them were scored below the mean value by one or more respondents: <i>Consider a validated</i> <i>measurement tools for nurses satisfaction levels (3.9).</i>
Turnover rates	Scored above average
Mortality level	Scored above average and two of them were scored below the mean value by one or more respondents: Consider ongoing analysis of mortality statistics (3.5), Consider review of cases to identify (3.9).
Bed occupancy rate	Scored above average and only one of them were scored below the mean value by one or more respondents: Consider monitoring occupancy rates and associated workloads with a view to increasing staff numbers (3.8).
Adverse incidents occurrence	Scored above average and all of them were scored below the mean value by one or more respondents: Consider risk management protocol in the organisation and associated training for nurses (3.7), Consider training around clinical protocols (3.7), Review and analysis of Adverse incident data with particular emphasis on missed care episodes (3.7), Consider Root Cause Analysis of missed care incidents (3.7), Consider analysis of safety culture at unit and organisational level (3.7).
Complaint rates	Scored below the mean value by one respondent: Consider formal review of complaints for episodes of missed care (3.6).

All items were seen as important in the development of a safe working environment where patient safety was central to practice with all items scoring average or above average.

# 4 THE GUIDANCE DOCUMENT

#### 4.1 The format

This document is prepared for the support of nurse managers and clinical leaders to address episodes of missed nursing care within their units. It is made up of quick reference tables for easy referencing. It is intended as a reference including useful tips and reminders. It is neither prescriptive nor exhaustive and is intended to prompt nurse managers on what contributes to missed care, how it impacts and what if anything can be done to address the individual points.

#### 4.2 Missed nursing care indicators

In this section we present tables which may help to prevent missed care in the first instance, but also to identify and make explicit missed care events when they occur.

- Table 1 INDICATORS TO PREVENT MISSED CARE
  - In this section the relevance of each indicator to the nurse manager is briefly noted along with factors which might be consider
- Table 2 FACTORS TO CONSIDER IN PREVENTING MISSED CARE
  - In this section the care delivery cycle is broken down, with relevance and considerations noted.
- Table 3 IDENTIFYING POTENTIAL OR ACTUAL MISSED CARE THROUGH PATIENT OUTCOMES
  - This section provides nurse managers with the guidance in regard to what indicators would support the identification of missed nursing care that is relevant to patients
- ➤ Table 4 IDENTIFYING POTENTIAL OR ACTUAL MISSED CARE THROUGH NURSE OUTCOMES
  - This section provides nurse managers with the guidance in regard to factors that inhabit the effective management of nursing staff well-being, retention and recruitment.

- ➤ Table 5 IDENTIFYING POTENTIAL OR ACTUAL MISSED CARE THROUGH ORGANIZATIONAL OUTCOMES
  - This section provides nurse managers with the guidance in regard to organizational factors relating to risk management and effective risk management compliance.

The table below (Table 3) describes the known indicators for missed nursing care events.

TABLE 3: INDICATORS FOR MISSED NURSING CARE

INDICATORS TO MONITOR MISSED CARE			
ORGANIZATIONAL	ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE		
INDICATOR	RELEVANCE	CONSIDERATIONS	
	for nurse managers	for nurse managers to address indicator	
Nurse staffing levels and skill mix	<ul> <li>Staffing levels linked to missed care in the literature.</li> <li>Organization must define safe staffing for each unit.</li> <li>Where levels are not appropriate nurse managers are responsible for reallocation, for replacement staff, etc.</li> <li>Where no replacement staff are available a structured system must be in place to high light the increased risks to patients.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Ensure staffing levels in accordance with organisational or national guidelines.</li> <li>Workforce planning takes into account patient acuity and dependency level.</li> <li>To consider the nurse to patient ratio.</li> <li>To consider nurse's hours/patient day.</li> <li>To consider individual nurse workload.</li> <li>To consider skill mix (nurse to healthcare assistant ratio).</li> <li>To consider nurse experience levels.</li> <li>To consider nurse education levels.</li> </ul>	
Nursing leadership	<ul> <li>Effective nurse leadership linked to better practice environment and reduced levels of missed care.</li> <li>Executive level involvement of nurses in the organisation.</li> <li>Nurse leadership at all levels throughout the organisation.</li> <li>Nurses involved in decisionmaking at all levels.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>To consider leadership training for nurse managers.</li> <li>To consider a measure of leadership capability using appropriate tool such as Practice Environment Scale (PES) of Nursing Work Index (NWI) (perception of nurse visibility and leadership).</li> <li>Adopt measures as Shared Decision-Making (SDM) to increase accountability, ownership, equity and partnership within the team.</li> </ul>	
Quality of the practice environment	Links between practice environment and rates of missed care.	To consider a measure of the quality of the Practice Environment using an appropriate tool such as PES of Nursing Work Index (NWI).	

# Table 4 includes suggestions for nurse managers to consider when trying to reduce or prevent missed care within their units.

TABLE 4: FACTORS TO CONSIDER IN PREVENTING MISSED NURSING CARE

CARE DELIVER	Y PROCESS	
CARE DELIVERY CYCLE	RELEVANCE	CONSIDERATIONS for nurse managers to address the indicators
Assess	<ul> <li>Nurses assess the needs of their patients and based on this assessment make decisions about necessary care provision.</li> <li>Structured assessment should be made using appropriate evidence based tools.</li> <li>Person centred care should be a primary focus with patient involvement in assessment and planning.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>To consider a formal record system for nursing data.</li> <li>To consider training for nurses about effective clinical decisio making.</li> <li>To consider use of taxonomy (ICNP, NANDA International).</li> <li>To consider a theoretical framework for decision making at all levels.</li> <li>To consider an ethical</li> </ul>
Plan	Based on patient assessment nurses plan the delivery of care. At this point nurses make decisions and prioritise care provision. If nurse's workload or unit staffing level does not allow them to provide all necessary care, they will make decisions about which care to provide. This decision-making may result in missed care episodes.	<ul> <li>framework for decision making</li> <li>Evaluate if skill mix and delegation decisions are appropriate.</li> <li>To consider the impact of the extended role of nurses in the organisation.</li> <li>To consider IT training for nurses.</li> </ul>
Implement	Nurses deliver care according to previous assessment, planning and decision-making. They may delegate tasks to healthcare assistants. Essential patient care may be omitted at this point due to lack of time, poor decision-making, experience levels or lack of leadership.	<ul> <li>To consider a validated measurement tool to measure missed care episodes.</li> <li>To consider a Missed Care Incident investigation process which explores cause, decisior taken, reason.</li> <li>Ensure a supportive, non-punitive environment for nurses.</li> </ul>
Evaluate	Evaluation of care delivery may reveal care that has been missed, omitted, unfinished or rationed.	

The following tables (Tables 5, 6 and 7) contain suggestions for nurse managers to help identify missed care through monitoring known patient nurse and organizational outcomes.

TABLE 5: MONITORING PATIENT OUTCOMES

IDENTIFYING POTENTIAL OR ACTUAL MISSED CARE THROUGH PATIENT OUTCOMES			
PATIENT OUTCOMES			
OUTCOME	RELEVANCE for Nurse Managers	TO CONSIDERATIONS for nurse managers to help identify missed care and improve outcomes	
Patient satisfaction	Patient satisfaction is an important quality of care indicator which can provide information on  Expectations met  Patient centred care  Quality of care  Cost effectiveness  Participation of patient in care decisions.	<ul> <li>To consider a validated measurement tool for patient satisfaction.</li> <li>To consider patient satisfaction as a continuous quality improvement initiative.</li> <li>Evaluate patient involvement on decision making process at all levels.</li> </ul>	
Adverse incidents occurrence	Adverse incident occurrence rates or near misses can reveal deficits in the care processes and are an important indicator of quality of care. They can provide evidence of missed care along with the impact on the patient. They can be seen within organisations by senior managers as an impetus for change.	<ul> <li>To consider risk management protocol in the organisation and associated training for nurses.</li> <li>To consider training around clinical protocols.</li> <li>Review and analysis of Adverse incident data with particular emphasis on missed care episodes.</li> <li>To consider Root Cause Analysis of missed care incidents.</li> <li>To consider analysis of safety culture at unit and organisational level.</li> </ul>	
Length of stay	Patient Length of stay is an important indicator of quality of care and patient safety. Extended lengths of stay can be associated with adverse incident occurrence and therefore may be associated with missed care events.	<ul> <li>To consider overview processes for length of stay monitoring.</li> <li>To consider an organisational trigger for episodes of extended length of stay.</li> <li>Review cases for episodes of missed care.</li> </ul>	
Quality of care	Patient assessment of Quality of Care is an important outcome for consideration.	To consider an overall rating scale for quality of care measurement.	
Missed care	Missed care episodes can indicate reduce quality in care provision and implies that all of patients' needs were not met.	<ul> <li>To consider a validated measurement tool to measure missed care episodes.</li> <li>To consider a Missed Care Incident investigation process which explores cause, decisions taken, reason.</li> </ul>	

TABLE 6: MONITORING NURSE OUTCOMES

	POTENTIAL OR ACTUAL MISSED CARE 1	THROUGH NURSE OUTCOMES
OUTCOME	DMES  RELEVANCE for nurse managers	TO CONSIDERATIONS for nurse managers to help improve nurse outcomes
Job satisfaction	Nurse job satisfaction is recognised as an important outcome for nurses. It is linked to staff wellbeing, and reflective of the organisational approach to nursing.  Nurse job satisfaction is linked to quality of care.	<ul> <li>To consider a validated measurement tools for nurses satisfaction levels.</li> <li>To consider satisfaction with Continuing Professional Development (CPD) System.</li> <li>To consider Lifelong learning opportunities for nurses.</li> <li>To consider nurse involvement</li> </ul>
Intention to leave	Intention to leave is an important nurse outcome which reflects the nurse's wellbeing, and satisfaction with his/her role and place within the organisation. This outcome is relevant to nurse managers who are concerned with maintaining a stable workforce, retaining experienced staff for continuity of care provision. Intention to leave is linked to quality of care.	<ul> <li>in Committees, WG at unit and organisational level.</li> <li>To consider how the nursing voice is heard at executive level.</li> <li>To consider formal measurement of staff empowerment.</li> <li>To consider turnover rates and associated costs to the organisation.</li> <li>To consider schemes to retain experienced staff.</li> <li>To consider recognition of valued staff (professional recognition, involvement,</li> </ul>
Burnout levels	Burnout levels of nursing staff are strongly associated with quality of care, job satisfaction and intention to leave. Staff morale and wellbeing are important To considerations for managers. Burnout levels impact on nurses ability to make effective decisions, which may result in episodes of missed or unfinished care.	<ul> <li>incentives) within the organisation.</li> <li>To consider career pathways and progression pathways for nurses within the organisation.</li> <li>To consider use of validate measures of nurse burnout levels such as MBI.</li> <li>To consider staff wellbeing programm within the organisation (counselling, mindfulness, group work).</li> <li>To consider teaching hospital status a a magnet for staff.</li> </ul>

TABLE 7: MONITORING ORGANISATIONAL OUTCOMES

IDENTIFYING POTENTIAL OR ACTUAL MISSED CARE THROUGH ORGANIZATIONAL OUTCOMES			
ORGANIZATIONAL OUTCOMES			
OUTCOME	RELEVANCE for nurse managers	TO CONSIDERATIONS For nurse managers in relation to organisational outcomes	
Turnover rates	Nurse turnover rates are of concern to nurse managers and are often reflective of nurse outcomes described earlier. High turnover can result in experienced nurses leaving an organisation, which forces more inexperienced staff to practice at a level beyond their expertise. This can result in poor decision making in relation to patient care with a potential for higher levels of missed care.	<ul> <li>To consider monitoring turnover rates at both organisation and unit level with the aim of identifying patterns and addressing the cause.</li> <li>To consider formal exit interviews for staff leaving the organisation.</li> </ul>	
Mortality level	Mortality statistics are a recognised quality indicator in healthcare organisations. Higher than expected mortality levels may be reflective of poor quality care provision, possibly inclusive of missed care episodes.	<ul> <li>To consider ongoing analysis of mortality statistics.</li> <li>To consider review of cases to identify missed care.</li> </ul>	
Bed occupancy rate	Bed occupancy rates are reflective of the flow of patients in hospital/health system and the workload of staff. Therefore, this is a concern for all nurse managers. Higher nurse workloads are associated with higher levels of missed care.	<ul> <li>To consider reallocation of Human Resources according to occupancy rates.</li> <li>To consider monitoring occupancy rates and associated workloads with a view to increasing staff numbers.</li> </ul>	
Adverse incident occurrence	As above in patient outcomes. Adverse incident rates are an important To consideration for managers which may stem from missed care episodes.	As above in patient outcomes.	
Complaint rates	Complaint rates are an important indicator of quality of care and may be associated with episodes of missed care.	<ul> <li>To consider formal review of complaints for episodes of missed care.</li> </ul>	

# **5 LIMITATIONS**

There were some limitations to the development of this guideline. Firstly, the questionnaire had to be translated into a number of different languages. Careful review of the translation was required in order to maintain consistency over the survey. Secondly, the level of nurse managers responsibility and competence is different in various countries, which meant that a generic statement had to be developed taking into account all variations. This may mean that some statements may not be quite what is required in some countries, however, we believe we have developed the statements in a way that they can be adapted.

### **6 ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS**

BERNCA Basel Extent of Rationing of Nursing Care
CPD Continuing Professional Development

ICNP International Classification for Nursing Practice IHORC The International Hospital Outcomes Research

Consortium

IT Information technology

MBI Maslach Burnout Inventory

MISSCARE Missed nursing care

NANDA International formerly the North American Nursing Diagnosis

Association

NWI Nursing Work Index

PES Practice Environment Scale

PIRNCA The Perceived Implicit Rationing of Nursing Care

instrument

RANCARE Missed nursing care COST ACTION project

RN4CAST Nurse Forecasting in Europe SDM Shared Decision-Making TU-7, TU-13 Tasks Undone scales

WG Working group

#### 7 GLOSSARY

Adverse events: any injury caused as a result of treatment and care.

**Error:** an act of commission (doing something wrong) or omission (failing to do the right thing) that leads to an undesirable outcome or significant potential for such an outcome in a patient.

**Quality:** quality in nursing can be defined as the "degree of excellence" in nursing care.

**Nursing quality indicator:** a measure of the quality and safety outcomes of nursing care.

**Missed or rationed nursing care:** A care that occurs in response to organisational triggers or circumstances that negatively affect nurses' capacity to carry out care activity.

**Nursing-sensitive indicators:** identify structures of care and care processes, both of which in turn influence care outcomes; nursing-sensitive indicators are distinct and specific to nursing, and differ from medical indicators of care quality.

**Patient safety:** freedom from accidental or preventable injuries produced by medical care. Practices or interventions that improve patient safety are those that reduce the occurrence of preventable adverse events.

# 8 REFERENCES USED IN THE DOCUMENT AND FOR GUIDANCE TO READERS

This section provides the references used in this document but also outlines them in a way that provides readers with a research and reference resource for those wishing to read further about the phenomenon of missed and rationed care.

# 8.1 Missed nursing care explained

Aiken, L. H., Clarke, S. P., Sloane, D. M., Sochalski, J. A., Busse, R., Clarke, H., Giovannetti, P., Hunt, J., Rafferty, A. M., & Shamian, J. (2001). Nurses' reports on hospital care in five countries. *Health affairs (Project Hope)*, 20(3), 43–53. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.20.3.43

Aiken, L. H., Sermeus, W., Van den Heede, K., Sloane, D. M., Busse, R., McKee, M., Bruyneel, L., Rafferty, A. M., Griffiths, P., Moreno-Casbas, M. T., Tishelman, C., Scott, A., Brzostek, T., Kinnunen, J., Schwendimann, R., Heinen, M., Zikos, D., Sjetne, I. S., Smith, H. L., & Kutney-Lee, A. (2012). Patient safety, satisfaction, and quality of hospital care: cross sectional surveys of nurses and patients in 12 countries in Europe and the United States. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 344, e1717. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.e1717

Aiken, L. H., Sloane, D. M., Bruyneel, L., Van den Heede, K., Sermeus, W., & RN4CAST Consortium (2013). Nurses' reports of working conditions and hospital quality of care in 12 countries in Europe. *International journal of nursing studies*, 50(2), 143–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.11.009

Aiken, L. H., Sloane, D. M., Ball, J., Bruyneel, L., Rafferty, A. M., & Griffiths, P. (2018). Patient satisfaction with hospital care and nurses in England: an observational study. *BMJ open*, 8(1), e019189. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019189

Ausserhofer, D., Schubert, M., Desmedt, M., Blegen, M. A., De Geest, S., & Schwendimann, R. (2013). The association of patient safety climate and nurse-related organizational factors with selected patient outcomes: a cross-sectional survey. *International journal of nursing studies*, 50(2), 240–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.04.007

Ausserhofer, D., Zander, B., Busse, R., Schubert, M., De Geest, S., Rafferty, A. M., Ball, J., Scott, A., Kinnunen, J., Heinen, M., Sjetne, I. S., Moreno-Casbas, T., Kózka, M., Lindqvist, R., Diomidous, M., Bruyneel, L., Sermeus, W., Aiken, L. H., Schwendimann, R., & RN4CAST consortium (2014). Prevalence, patterns and predictors of nursing care left undone in European hospitals: results from the multicountry cross-sectional RN4CAST study. *BMJ quality & safety*, 23(2), 126–135. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2013-002318

Bail, K., & Grealish, L. (2016). 'Failure to Maintain': A theoretical proposition for a new quality indicator of nurse care rationing for complex older people in hospital. *International journal of nursing studies*, 63, 146–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.08.001

- Ball, J. E., Murrells, T., Rafferty, A. M., Morrow, E., & Griffiths, P. (2014). 'Care left undone' during nursing shifts: associations with workload and perceived quality of care. *BMJ quality & safety*, 23(2), 116–125. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2012-001767
- Ball, J. E., Griffiths, P., Rafferty, A. M., Lindqvist, R., Murrells, T., & Tishelman, C. (2016). A cross-sectional study of 'care left undone' on nursing shifts in hospitals. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 72(9), 2086–2097. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.12976
- Ball, J. E., Bruyneel, L., Aiken, L. H., Sermeus, W., Sloane, D. M., Rafferty, A. M., Lindqvist, R., Tishelman, C., Griffiths, P., & RN4Cast Consortium (2018). Post-operative mortality, missed care and nurse staffing in nine countries: A cross-sectional study. *International journal of nursing studies*, 78, 10–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2017.08.004
- Bruyneel, L., Li, B., Ausserhofer, D., Lesaffre, E., Dumitrescu, I., Smith, H. L., Sloane, D. M., Aiken, L. H., & Sermeus, W. (2015). Organization of Hospital Nursing, Provision of Nursing Care, and Patient Experiences With Care in Europe. *Medical care research and review : MCRR*, 72(6), 643–664. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077558715589188
- Gilbert, J., & Jeong-ah, K. (2018). To err is human: Medication patient safety in aged care, a case study. *Quality* in *Ageing* and *Older Adults*, *19*(2), 126-134.
- Harvey, C., Thompson, S., Pearson, M., Willis, E., & Toffoli, L. (2017). Missed nursing care as an 'art form': The contradictions of nurses as carers. *Nursing inquiry*, 24(3), 10.1111/nin.12180. https://doi.org/10.1111/nin.12180
- Harvey, C. L., Thompson, S., Willis, E., Meyer, A., & Pearson, M. (2018). Understanding how nurses ration care. *Journal of health organization and management*, 32(3), 494–510. https://doi.org/10.1108/JHOM-09-2017-0248
- Hegney, D. G., Rees, C. S., Osseiran-Moisson, R., Breen, L., Eley, R., Windsor, C., & Harvey, C. (2019). Perceptions of nursing workloads and contributing factors, and their impact on implicit care rationing: A Queensland, Australia study. *Journal of nursing management*, 27(2), 371–380. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12693
- Henderson, J., Willis, E., Toffoli, L., Hamilton, P., & Blackman, I. (2016). The impact of rationing of health resources on capacity of Australian public sector nurses to deliver nursing care after-hours: a qualitative study. *Nursing inquiry*, 23(4), 368–376. https://doi.org/10.1111/nin.12151
- Jones T. L. (2014). Validation of the Perceived Implicit Rationing of Nursing Care (PIRNCA) instrument. *Nursing forum*, *49*(2), 77–87. *https://doi.org/10.1111/nuf.12076*
- Jones, T. L., Hamilton, P., & Murry, N. (2015). Unfinished nursing care, missed care, and implicitly rationed care: State of the science review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *52*(6), 1121–1137. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2015.02.012
- Kalisch B. J. (2006). Missed nursing care: a qualitative study. *Journal of nursing care quality*, 21(4), 306–315. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001786-200610000-00006
- Kalisch, B. J., & Williams, R. A. (2009). Development and psychometric testing of a tool to measure missed nursing care. *The Journal of nursing administration*, 39(5), 211–219. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNA.0b013e3181a23cf5

Kalisch, B. J., Landstrom, G. L., & Hinshaw, A. S. (2009). Missed nursing care: a concept analysis. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 65(7), 1509–1517. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2009.05027.x

Kalisch, B. J., Tschannen, D., Lee, H., & Friese, C. R. (2011). Hospital variation in missed nursing care. *American journal of medical quality: the official journal of the American College of Medical Quality*, 26(4), 291–299. https://doi.org/10.1177/1062860610395929

Kalisch, B. J., Tschannen, D., & Lee, K. H. (2012). Missed nursing care, staffing, and patient falls. *Journal of nursing care quality*, *27*(1), 6–12. *https://doi.org/10.1097/NCQ.0b013e318225aa23* 

Lucero, R. J., Lake, E. T., & Aiken, L. H. (2010). Nursing care quality and adverse events in US hospitals. *Journal of clinical nursing*, 19(15-16), 2185–2195. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2702.2010.03250.x

Papastavrou, E., Andreou, P., Tsangari, H., & Merkouris, A. (2014a). Linking patient satisfaction with nursing care: the case of care rationing - a correlational study. *BMC nursing*, *13*, 26. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6955-13-26

Papastavrou, E., Andreou, P., & Vryonides, S. (2014b). The hidden ethical element of nursing care rationing. *Nursing ethics*, 21(5), 583–593. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733013513210

Phelan, A., McCarthy, S., & Adams, E. (2018). Examining missed care in community nursing: A cross section survey design. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 74(3), 626–636. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13466

Rees, C. S., Breen, L. J., Cusack, L., & Hegney, D. (2015). Understanding individual resilience in the workplace: the international collaboration of workforce resilience model. *Frontiers in psychology*, 6, 73. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyq.2015.00073

Schubert, M., Glass, T. R., Clarke, S. P., Schaffert-Witvliet, B., & De Geest, S. (2007). Validation of the Basel Extent of Rationing of Nursing Care instrument. *Nursing research*, *56*(6), 416–424. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NNR.0000299853.52429.62

Schubert, M., Glass, T. R., Clarke, S. P., Aiken, L. H., Schaffert-Witvliet, B., Sloane, D. M., & De Geest, S. (2008). Rationing of nursing care and its relationship to patient outcomes: the Swiss extension of the International Hospital Outcomes Study. *International journal for quality in health care:* journal of the International Society for Quality in Health Care, 20(4), 227–237. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzn017

Schubert, M., Clarke, S. P., Glass, T. R., Schaffert-Witvliet, B., & De Geest, S. (2009). Identifying thresholds for relationships between impacts of rationing of nursing care and nurse- and patient-reported outcomes in Swiss hospitals: a correlational study. *International journal of nursing studies*, 46(7), 884–893. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2008.10.008

Schubert, M., Ausserhofer, D., Desmedt, M., Schwendimann, R., Lesaffre, E., Li, B., & De Geest, S. (2013). Levels and correlates of implicit rationing of nursing care in Swiss acute care hospitals—a cross sectional study. *International journal of nursing studies*, 50(2), 230–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.09.016

Wong, C. A., Laschinger, H. K., MacDonald-Rencz, S., Burkoski, V., Cummings, G., D'Amour, D., Grinspun, D., Gurnham, M. E., Huckstep, S., Leiter, M., Perkin, K., MacPhee, M., Matthews, S., O'Brien-Pallas, L., Ritchie, J., Ruffolo, M., Vincent, L., Wilk, P., Almost, J., Purdy, N., ... Grau, A. (2013). Part 2: Nurses' career aspirations to management roles: qualitative findings from a national study of Canadian nurses. *Journal of nursing management*, *21*(2), 231–241. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2834.2012.01451.x

#### **Supplementary readings:**

Carthon, J. M., Lasater, K. B., Sloane, D. M., & Kutney-Lee, A. (2015). The quality of hospital work environments and missed nursing care is linked to heart failure readmissions: a cross-sectional study of US hospitals. *BMJ quality & safety*, 24(4), 255–263. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2014-003346

Geest, S. (2012). Associations between rationing of nursing care and inpatient mortality in Swiss hospitals. *International journal for quality in health care : journal of the International Society for Quality in Health Care*, 24(3), 230–238. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzs009

Hessels, A. J., Flynn, L., Cimiotti, J. P., Cadmus, E., & Gershon, R. R. (2015). The Impact of the Nursing Practice Environment on Missed Nursing Care. *Clinical nursing studies*, *3*(4), 60–65. https://doi.org/10.5430/cns.v3n4p60

Kalisch, B. J., Gosselin, K., & Choi, S. H. (2012). A comparison of patient care units with high versus low levels of missed nursing care. *Health care management review*, *37*(4), 320–328. https://doi.org/10.1097/HMR.0b013e318249727e

Kalisch, B. J., Xie, B., & Ronis, D. L. (2013). Train-the-trainer intervention to increase nursing teamwork and decrease missed nursing care in acute care patient units. *Nursing research*, 62(6), 405–413. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNR.0b013e3182a7a15d

Lake, E. T., Germack, H. D., & Viscardi, M. K. (2016). Missed nursing care is linked to patient satisfaction: a cross-sectional study of US hospitals. *BMJ quality & safety*, 25(7), 535–543. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2015-003961

Lake, E. T., Hallowell, S. G., Kutney-Lee, A., Hatfield, L. A., Del Guidice, M., Boxer, B. A., Ellis, L. N., Verica, L., & Aiken, L. H. (2016). Higher Quality of Care and Patient Safety Associated With Better NICU Work Environments. *Journal of nursing care quality*, *31*(1), 24–32. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1097/NCQ.0000000000000146">https://doi.org/10.1097/NCQ.00000000000000146</a>

Rochefort, C. M., Buckeridge, D. L., & Abrahamowicz, M. (2015). Improving patient safety by optimizing the use of nursing human resources. *Implementation science: IS*, 10, 89. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-015-0278-1

Tubbs-Cooley, H. L., Pickler, R. H., Mara, C. A., Othman, M., Kovacs, A., & Mark, B. A. (2017). Hospital Magnet® Designation and Missed Nursing Care in Neonatal Intensive Care Units. *Journal of pediatric nursing*, 34, 5–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2016.12.004

Verrall, C., Abery, E., Harvey, C., Henderson, J., Willis, E., Hamilton, P., Toffoli, L., & Blackman, I. (2015). Nurses and midwives perceptions of missed nursing care--A South Australian study. *Collegian (Royal College of Nursing, Australia)*, 22(4), 413–420. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colegn.2014.09.001

Vryonides, S., Papastavrou, E., Charalambous, A., Andreou, P., & Merkouris, A. (2015). The ethical dimension of nursing care rationing: A thematic synthesis of qualitative studies. *Nursing ethics*, 22(8), 881–900. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733014551377

#### 8.2 Nurse manager influence on missed or rationed nursing care

Aiken, L. H., Sermeus, W., Van den Heede, K., Sloane, D. M., Busse, R., McKee, M., Bruyneel, L., Rafferty, A. M., Griffiths, P., Moreno-Casbas, M. T., Tishelman, C., Scott, A., Brzostek, T., Kinnunen, J., Schwendimann, R., Heinen, M., Zikos, D., Sjetne, I. S., Smith, H. L., & Kutney-Lee, A. (2012). Patient safety, satisfaction, and quality of hospital care: cross sectional surveys of nurses and patients in 12 countries in Europe and the United States. *BMJ (Clinical research ed.)*, 344, e1717. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.e1717

Aiken, L. H., Sloane, D. M., Bruyneel, L., Van den Heede, K., Sermeus, W., & RN4CAST Consortium (2013). Nurses' reports of working conditions and hospital quality of care in 12 countries in Europe. *International journal of nursing studies*, 50(2), 143–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.11.009

Ausserhofer, D., Zander, B., Busse, R., Schubert, M., De Geest, S., Rafferty, A. M., Ball, J., Scott, A., Kinnunen, J., Heinen, M., Sjetne, I. S., Moreno-Casbas, T., Kózka, M., Lindqvist, R., Diomidous, M., Bruyneel, L., Sermeus, W., Aiken, L. H., Schwendimann, R., & RN4CAST consortium (2014). Prevalence, patterns and predictors of nursing care left undone in European hospitals: results from the multicountry cross-sectional RN4CAST study. *BMJ quality & safety*, *23*(2), 126–135. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2013-002318

Ball, J. E., Murrells, T., Rafferty, A. M., Morrow, E., & Griffiths, P. (2014). 'Care left undone' during nursing shifts: associations with workload and perceived quality of care. *BMJ quality & safety*, 23(2), 116–125. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2012-001767

Bragadóttir, H., Kalisch, B. J., & Tryggvadóttir, G. B. (2017). Correlates and predictors of missed nursing care in hospitals. *Journal of clinical nursing*, 26(11-12), 1524–1534. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13449

Bruyneel, L., Li, B., Ausserhofer, D., Lesaffre, E., Dumitrescu, I., Smith, H. L., Sloane, D. M., Aiken, L. H., & Sermeus, W. (2015). Organization of Hospital Nursing, Provision of Nursing Care, and Patient Experiences With Care in Europe. *Medical care research and review :* MCRR, 72(6), 643–664. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077558715589188

Georgescu, D. D. (2011). Lean Thinking and Transferring Lean Management- The Best Defence against an Economic Recession?, *European Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies*, *3* (1), June 2011.

Griffiths, P., Dall'Ora, C., Simon, M., Ball, J., Lindqvist, R., Rafferty, A. M., Schoonhoven, L., Tishelman, C., Aiken, L. H., & RN4CAST Consortium (2014). Nurses' shift length and overtime

working in 12 European countries: the association with perceived quality of care and patient safety. *Medical care*, 52(11), 975–981. https://doi.org/10.1097/MLR.000000000000233

Henderson, J., Willis, E., Toffoli, L., Hamilton, P., & Blackman, I. (2016). The impact of rationing of health resources on capacity of Australian public sector nurses to deliver nursing care after-hours: a qualitative study. *Nursing inquiry*, 23(4), 368–376. https://doi.org/10.1111/nin.12151

Jacob, E. R., McKenna, L., & D'Amore, A. (2015). The changing skill mix in nursing: considerations for and against different levels of nurse. *Journal of nursing management*, 23(4), 421–426. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12162

Kalisch, B. J., Landstrom, G. L., & Hinshaw, A. S. (2009). Missed nursing care: a concept analysis. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 65(7), 1509–1517. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2009.05027.x

Kalisch, B. J., Xie, B., & Ronis, D. L. (2013). Train-the-trainer intervention to increase nursing teamwork and decrease missed nursing care in acute care patient units. *Nursing research*, 62(6), 405–413. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNR.0b013e3182a7a15d

Karanikolos, M., Mladovsky, P., Cylus, J., Thomson, S., Basu, S., Stuckler, D., Mackenbach, J. P., & McKee, M. (2013). Financial crisis, austerity, and health in Europe. *Lancet (London, England)*, 381(9874), 1323–1331. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60102-6

Lake, E. T., & Friese, C. R. (2006). Variations in nursing practice environments: relation to staffing and hospital characteristics. *Nursing research*, *55*(1), 1–9. *https://doi.org/10.1097/00006199-200601000-00001* 

McCauley, L., Kirwan, M., Riklikiene, O., & Hinno, S. (2020). A SCOPING REVIEW: the role of the nurse manager as represented in the missed care literature. *Journal of Nursing Management*. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.13011

Papastavrou, E., Andreou, P., Tsangari, H., & Merkouris, A. (2014a). Linking patient satisfaction with nursing care: the case of care rationing - a correlational study. *BMC nursing*, *13*, 26. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6955-13-26

Rees, C. S., Breen, L. J., Cusack, L., & Hegney, D. (2015). Understanding individual resilience in the workplace: the international collaboration of workforce resilience model. *Frontiers in psychology*, 6, 73. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00073

Schubert, M., Ausserhofer, D., Desmedt, M., Schwendimann, R., Lesaffre, E., Li, B., & De Geest, S. (2013). Levels and correlates of implicit rationing of nursing care in Swiss acute care hospitals—a cross sectional study. *International journal of nursing studies*, 50(2), 230–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.09.016

Srulovici, E., & Drach-Zahavy, A. (2017). Nurses' personal and ward accountability and missed nursing care: A cross-sectional study. *International journal of nursing studies*, 75, 163–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2017.08.003

Willis, E., Carryer, J., Harvey, C., Pearson, M., & Henderson, J. (2017). Austerity, new public management and missed nursing care in Australia and New Zealand. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 73(12), 3102–3110. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13380

Yanchus, N. J., Ohler, L., Crowe, E., Teclaw, R., & Osatuke, K. (2017). 'You just can't do it all': A secondary analysis of nurses' perceptions of teamwork, staffing and workload. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 22(4), 313–325. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987117710305

#### **Supplementary readings:**

Cho, E., Lee, N. J., Kim, E. Y., Kim, S., Lee, K., Park, K. O., & Sung, Y. H. (2016). Nurse staffing level and overtime associated with patient safety, quality of care, and care left undone in hospitals: A cross-sectional study. *International journal of nursing studies*, 60, 263–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.05.009

Dabney, B. W., & Kalisch, B. J. (2015). Nurse Staffing Levels and Patient-Reported Missed Nursing Care. *Journal of nursing care quality*, 30(4), 306–312. https://doi.org/10.1097/NCQ.000000000000123

Griffiths, P., Ball, J., Drennan, J., Dall'Ora, C., Jones, J., Maruotti, A., Pope, C., Recio Saucedo, A., & Simon, M. (2016). Nurse staffing and patient outcomes: Strengths and limitations of the evidence to inform policy and practice. A review and discussion paper based on evidence reviewed for the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence Safe Staffing guideline development. *International journal of nursing studies*, 63, 213–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.03.012

Kang, J. H., Kim, C. W., & Lee, S. Y. (2016). Nurse-Perceived Patient Adverse Events depend on Nursing Workload. *Osong public health and research perspectives*, 7(1), 56–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrp.2015.10.015

Kooker, B. M., & Kamikawa, C. (2011). Successful strategies to improve RN retention and patient outcomes in a large medical centre in Hawaii. *Journal of clinical nursing*, *20*(1-2), 34–39. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2702.2010.03476.x

Louch, G., O'Hara, J., Gardner, P., & O'Connor, D. B. (2016). The daily relationships between staffing, safety perceptions and personality in hospital nursing: A longitudinal on-line diary study. *International journal of nursing studies*, 59, 27–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.02.010

Rochefort, C. M., Buckeridge, D. L., & Abrahamowicz, M. (2015). Improving patient safety by optimizing the use of nursing human resources. *Implementation science: IS, 10,* 89. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-015-0278-1

Schmalenberg, C., & Kramer, M. (2009). Nurse manager support: how do staff nurses define it?. *Critical care nurse*, 29(4), 61–69. https://doi.org/10.4037/ccn2009366

Twigg, D. E., Myers, H., Duffield, C., Pugh, J. D., Gelder, L., & Roche, M. (2016). The impact of adding assistants in nursing to acute care hospital ward nurse staffing on adverse patient outcomes: An analysis of administrative health data. *International journal of nursing studies*, 63, 189–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.09.008

Willis, E., Toffoli, L., Henderson, J., Couzner, L., Hamilton, P., Verrall, C., & Blackman, I. (2016). Rounding, work intensification and new public management. *Nursing inquiry*, *23*(2), 158–168. https://doi.org/10.1111/nin.12116

Zúñiga, F., Ausserhofer, D., Hamers, J. P., Engberg, S., Simon, M., & Schwendimann, R. (2015). The relationship of staffing and work environment with implicit rationing of nursing care in Swiss nursing homes—A cross-sectional study. *International journal of nursing studies*, *52*(9), 1463–1474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2015.05.005

## 8.3 Management and decision-making. Information technology (IT) tools

Alleyne, J., & Jumaa, M. O. (2007). Building the capacity for evidence-based clinical nursing leadership: the role of executive co-coaching and group clinical supervision for quality patient services. *Journal of nursing management*, 15(2), 230–243. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2834.2007.00750.x

Daly, J., Jackson, D., Mannix, J., Davidson, P. M., Hutchinson, M. (2014). The importance of clinical leadership in the hospital setting. *J Healthc Leadersh*, 6, 75-83 https://doi.org/10.2147/JHL.S46161

Golanowski, M., Beaudry, D., Kurz, L., Laffey, W. J., & Hook, M. L. (2007). Interdisciplinary shared decision-making: taking shared governance to the next level. *Nursing administration quarterly*, 31(4), 341–353. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NAQ.0000290431.72184.5a

#### **Supplementary readings:**

Armstrong, K. J., & Laschinger, H. (2006). Structural empowerment, Magnet hospital characteristics, and patient safety culture: making the link. *Journal of nursing care quality*, 21(2), 124–134. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001786-200604000-00007

Calman, N., Kitson, K., & Hauser, D. (2007). Using information technology to improve health quality and safety in community health centers. *Progress in community health partnerships : research, education, and action, 1*(1), 83–88. https://doi.org/10.1353/cpr.0.0001

Foster S. (2017). Making decisions for patient safety. *British journal of nursing (Mark Allen Publishing)*, 26(6), 371. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjon.2017.26.6.371

Laschinger, H. K., Wong, C. A., MacDonald-Rencz, S., Burkoski, V., Cummings, G., D'Amour, D., Grinspun, D., Gurnham, M. E., Huckstep, S., Leiter, M., Perkin, K., MacPhee, M., Matthews, S., O'Brien-

Moore, S. C., & Hutchison, S. A. (2007). Developing leaders at every level: accountability and empowerment actualized through shared governance. *The Journal of nursing administration*, *37*(12), 564–568. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NNA.0000302386.76119.22

Pallas, L., Ritchie, J., Ruffolo, M., Vincent, L., Wilk, P., Almost, J., Purdy, N., ... Grau, A. (2013). Part 1: The influence of personal and situational predictors on nurses' aspirations to management roles: preliminary findings of a national survey of Canadian nurses. *Journal of nursing management*, 21(2), 217–230. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2834.2012.01452.x

Piscotty, R. J., Kalisch, B., Gracey-Thomas, A., & Yarandi, H. (2015). Electronic nursing care reminders: implications for nursing leaders. *The Journal of nursing administration*, 45(5), 239–242. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNA.000000000000192

Rochefort, C. M., Buckeridge, D. L., Tanguay, A., Biron, A., D'Aragon, F., Wang, S., Gallix, B., Valiquette, L., Audet, L. A., Lee, T. C., Jayaraman, D., Petrucci, B., & Lefebvre, P. (2017). Accuracy and generalizability of using automated methods for identifying adverse events from electronic health record data: a validation study protocol. *BMC health services research*, 17(1), 147. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-017-2069-7

Rooddehghan, Z., ParsaYekta, Z., & Nasrabadi, A. N. (2015). Nurses, the Oppressed Oppressors: A Qualitative Study. *Global journal of health science*, 7(5), 239–245. https://doi.org/10.5539/gjhs.v7n5p239

Ruland C. M. (2001). Developing a decision support system to meet nurse managers' information needs for effective resource management. *Computers in nursing*, *19*(5), 187–193.

Spivak, M., Smith, A., & Logsdon, M. C. (2011). Developing expert clinical nurses: grow them, hold them and let them walk away. *Journal of nursing management*, 19(1), 92–97. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2834.2010.01194.x

Stewart, J., Stansfield, K., & Tapp, D. (2004). Clinical nurses' understanding of autonomy: accomplishing patient goals through interdependent practice. *The Journal of nursing administration*, 34(10), 443–450. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005110-200410000-00004

van Bogaert, P., Peremans, L., de Wit, M., Van Heusden, D., Franck, E., Timmermans, O., & Havens, D. S. (2015). Nurse managers' perceptions and experiences regarding staff nurse empowerment: a qualitative study. *Frontiers in psychology*, *6*, 1585. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01585

van de Wetering, E. J., van Exel, N. J., & Brouwer, W. B. (2016). Health or Happiness? A Note on Trading Off Health and Happiness in Rationing Decisions. *Value in health: the journal of the International Society for Pharmacoeconomics and Outcomes Research*, 19(5), 552–557. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jval.2016.02.003

Wong, C. A., Laschinger, H. K., MacDonald-Rencz, S., Burkoski, V., Cummings, G., D'Amour, D., Grinspun, D., Gurnham, M. E., Huckstep, S., Leiter, M., Perkin, K., MacPhee, M., Matthews, S., O'Brien-Pallas, L., Ritchie, J., Ruffolo, M., Vincent, L., Wilk, P., Almost, J., Purdy, N., ... Grau, A. (2013). Part 2: Nurses' career aspirations to management roles: qualitative findings from a national study of Canadian nurses. *Journal of nursing management*, *21*(2), 231–241. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2834.2012.01451.x

#### 8.4 Normative/legal support

World Health Organization. Patient Safety. World Alliance for Patient Safety. Patient Safety. [Internet]. The Launch of the World Alliance for Patient Safety, Washington DC, USA — 27 October 2004. [Accessed 1 February 2019]. https://www.who.int/patientsafety/worldalliance/en/

World Alliance for Patient Safety. Global Patient Safety Challenge: 2005-2006 / World Alliance for Patient Safety. [Accessed 24 February 2019]. https://www.who.int/patientsafety/events/05/GPSC\_Launch\_ENGLISH\_FINAL.pdf

World Health Organization. (2011). Multi-professional patient safety curriculum guide. Geneva: WHO. [Accessed 24 February 2019]. http://www.who.int/patientsafety/education/curriculum/Curriculum\_Tools/en/

#### 8.5 Theoretical background for indicators

Bail, K., & Grealish, L. (2016). 'Failure to Maintain': A theoretical proposition for a new quality indicator of nurse care rationing for complex older people in hospital. *International journal of nursing studies*, 63, 146–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.08.001

Ball, J. E., Bruyneel, L., Aiken, L. H., Sermeus, W., Sloane, D. M., Rafferty, A. M., Lindqvist, R., Tishelman, C., Griffiths, P., & RN4Cast Consortium (2018). Post-operative mortality, missed care and nurse staffing in nine countries: A cross-sectional study. *International journal of nursing studies*, 78, 10–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2017.08.004

Blackman, I., Henderson, J., Willis, E., Hamilton, P., Toffoli, L., Verrall, C., Abery, E., & Harvey, C. (2015). Factors influencing why nursing care is missed. *Journal of clinical nursing*, *24*(1-2), 47–56. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.12688

Georgescu, D. D. (2011). Lean Thinking and Transferring Lean Management- The Best Defence against an Economic Recession?, *European Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies*, *3* (1), June 2011.

Gilbert, J., & Jeong-ah, K. (2018). To err is human: Medication patient safety in aged care, a case study. *Quality* in *Ageing* and *Older Adults*, *19*(2), 126-134.

Harvey, C., Thompson, S., Pearson, M., Willis, E., & Toffoli, L. (2017). Missed nursing care as an 'art form': The contradictions of nurses as carers. *Nursing inquiry*, 24(3), 10.1111/nin.12180. https://doi.org/10.1111/nin.12180

Harvey, C. L., Thompson, S., Willis, E., Meyer, A., & Pearson, M. (2018). Understanding how nurses ration care. *Journal of health organization and management*, *32*(3), 494–510. *https://doi.org/10.1108/JHOM-09-2017-0248* 

Hegney, D. G., Rees, C. S., Osseiran-Moisson, R., Breen, L., Eley, R., Windsor, C., & Harvey, C. (2019). Perceptions of nursing workloads and contributing factors, and their impact on implicit care rationing: A Queensland, Australia study. *Journal of nursing management*, *27*(2), 371–380. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12693

Henderson, J., Willis, E., Toffoli, L., Hamilton, P., & Blackman, I. (2016). The impact of rationing of health resources on capacity of Australian public sector nurses to deliver nursing care after-hours: a qualitative study. *Nursing inquiry*, 23(4), 368–376. https://doi.org/10.1111/nin.12151

Jacob, E. R., McKenna, L., & D'Amore, A. (2015). The changing skill mix in nursing: considerations for and against different levels of nurse. *Journal of nursing management*, 23(4), 421–426. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12162

Jangland, E., Teodorsson, T., Molander, K., & Muntlin Athlin, Å. (2018). Inadequate environment, resources and values lead to missed nursing care: A focused ethnographic study on the surgical ward using the Fundamentals of Care framework. *Journal of clinical nursing*, 27(11-12), 2311–2321. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14095

Papastavrou, E., Andreou, P., Tsangari, H., & Merkouris, A. (2014a). Linking patient satisfaction with nursing care: the case of care rationing - a correlational study. *BMC nursing*, 13, 26. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6955-13-26

Papastavrou, E., Andreou, P., & Vryonides, S. (2014b). The hidden ethical element of nursing care rationing. *Nursing ethics*, 21(5), 583–593. https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733013513210

Phelan, A., McCarthy, S., & Adams, E. (2018). Examining missed care in community nursing: A cross section survey design. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 74(3), 626–636. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13466

Rees, C. S., Breen, L. J., Cusack, L., & Hegney, D. (2015). Understanding individual resilience in the workplace: the international collaboration of workforce resilience model. *Frontiers in psychology*, 6, 73. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00073

Schubert, M., Ausserhofer, D., Desmedt, M., Schwendimann, R., Lesaffre, E., Li, B., & De Geest, S. (2013). Levels and correlates of implicit rationing of nursing care in Swiss acute care hospitals—a cross sectional study. *International journal of nursing studies*, 50(2), 230–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.09.016

Willis, E., Carryer, J., Harvey, C., Pearson, M., & Henderson, J. (2017). Austerity, new public management and missed nursing care in Australia and New Zealand. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 73(12), 3102–3110. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13380

Willis, E., Harvey, C., Thompson, S., Pearson, M., & Meyer, A. (2018). Work Intensification and Quality Assurance: Missed Nursing Care. *Journal of nursing care quality*, 33(2), E10–E16. https://doi.org/10.1097/NCQ.0000000000000277

Yanchus, N. J., Ohler, L., Crowe, E., Teclaw, R., & Osatuke, K. (2017). 'You just can't do it all': A secondary analysis of nurses' perceptions of teamwork, staffing and workload. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 22(4), 313–325. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987117710305

#### 9 APPENDIX 1 – QUESTIONNAIRE FOR MANAGERS





## PROMOTING PATIENT SAFETY THROUGH MINIMISING MISSED NURSING CARE: A RECOMMENDED GOOD PRACTICE GUIDANCE FOR NURSING MANAGERS

#### **QUESTIONNAIRE FOR NURSING MANAGERS**

Nurse managers are ideally placed to monitor and influence levels of compromised nursing care within their units.

As nurse leaders in clinical settings they too are faced with insufficient resources and can lead the way in decision-making processes which protect the quality and safety of patient care provision.

To develop a good practice guidance for nurse managers we define a set of indicators related with indicators and factors to prevent missed care (organizational structure and care delivery process), and to identifying potential or actual missed care through outcomes (patient outcomes, nurse outcomes and organizational outcomes).

We ask you to answer the following questionnaire in order to help us to better define indicators.

#### PART I – INDICATORS AND FACTORS TO PREVENT MISSED CARE

#### ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

A – Related to the indicator "Nurse staffing levels and skill mix" mark (X) the degree of importance on a scale of 1 to 4 where 1 means "Not important" and 4 means "Very Important":

	Item	1	2	3	4
A1	Ensure staffing levels in accordance with organisational or national guidelines				
A2	Have a workforce planning who takes into account patient acuity and dependency level				
А3	To consider the nurse to patient ratio				
A4	To consider nurses hours/patient day				
A5	To consider individual nurse workload				
A6	To consider skill mix (nurse to healthcare assistant ratio)				
A7	To consider nurse experience levels				
Α8	To consider nurse education levels				

B – Related to the indicator "Nursing leadership" mark (X) the degree of importance on a scale of 1 to 4 where 1 means "Not important" and 4 means "Very Important":

	Item	1	2	3	4
В1	To consider leadership training for nurse managers				
B2	To consider a measure of leadership capability using appropriate tools				
В3	Adopt measures of decision-making to increase accountability, ownership, equity and partnership within the team				

C – Related to the indicator "Quality of the practice environment" mark (X) the degree of importance on a scale of 1 to 4 where 1 means "Not important" and 4 means "Very Important":

Item	1	2	3	4
C1 To consider a measure of the quality of the Practice Environment				
using an appropriate tool				

#### **CARE DELIVERY PROCESS**

D – Related to the indicators "Assessment, Plan, Implement and Evaluate" mark (X) the degree of importance on a scale of 1 to 4 where 1 means "Not important" and 4 means "Very Important":

	ltem	1	2	3	4
D1	To consider a formal record system for nursing data				
D2	To consider training for nurses about effective clinical decision making				
D3	To consider use of taxonomy (ICNP, NANDA)				
D4	To consider a theoretical framework for decision making at all levels				
D5	To consider an ethical framework for decision making				
D6	Evaluate if skill mix and delegation decisions are appropriate				
D7	To consider the impact of the extended role of nurses in the organisation				
D8	To consider IT training for nurses				
D9	To consider a validated measurement tool to measure missed care episodes				
D10	To consider a Missed Care Incident investigation process which explores cause, decisions taken, reason.				
D11	Ensure a supportive, non-punitive environment for nurses.				

### PART II – IDENTIFYING POTENTIAL OR ACTUAL MISSED CARE THROUGH OUTCOMES

#### PATIENT OUTCOMES

E – Related to the indicator **"Patient satisfaction"** mark (**X**) the degree of importance on a scale of 1 to 4 where 1 means "Not important" and 4 means "Very Important":

	ltem	1	2	3	4
E1	To consider a validated measurement tool for patient satisfaction				
E2	To consider patient satisfaction as a continuous quality improvement initiative				
E3	Evaluate patient involvement on decision making process at all levels				

F – Related to the indicator "Adverse incidents occurrence" mark (X) the degree of importance on a scale of 1 to 4 where 1 means "Not important" and 4 means "Very Important":

	Item	1	2	3	4
F1	To consider risk management protocol in the organisation and				
	associated training for nurses				
F2	To consider training around clinical protocols				
F3	Review and analysis of Adverse incident data with particular emphasis on missed care episodes				
F4	To consider Root Cause Analysis of missed care incidents				
F5	To consider analysis of safety culture at unit and organisational level				

G – Related to the indicator "**Length of stay**" mark (**X**) the degree of importance on a scale of 1 to 4 where 1 means "Not important" and 4 means "Very Important":

ltem	1	2	3	4
G1 To consider overview processes for length of stay monitoring				
G2 To consider an organisational trigger for episodes of extended length of stay				

H – Related to the indicator "Quality of care" mark (X) the degree of importance on a scale of 1 to 4 where 1 means "Not important" and 4 means "Very Important":

	Item	1	2	3	4
H1	To consider an overall rating scale for quality of care measurement				

#### **NURSE OUTCOMES**

I – Related to the indicators **"Job satisfaction, Intent to leave and Burnout levels"** mark (**X**) the degree of importance on a scale of 1 to 4 where 1 means "Not important" and 4 means "Very Important":

	Item	1	2	3	4
11	To consider a validated measurement tools for nurses satisfaction levels				
12	To consider satisfaction with Continuing Professional Development (CPD) System		_		
13	To consider Lifelong learning opportunities for nurses				
14	To consider nurse involvement in Committees, WG at unit and organisational level.				
15	To consider how the nursing voice is heard at executive level				
16	To consider formal measurement of staff empowerment				
17	To consider turnover rates and associated costs to the organisation				
18	To consider schemes to retain experienced staff				
19	To consider recognition of valued staff (professional recognition, involvement, incentives) within the organisation				
I10	To consider career pathways and progression pathways for nurses within the organisation				
111	To consider use of validate measures of nurse burnout levels				
l12	To consider staff wellbeing programme within the organisation (counselling, mindfulness, group work)				
113	To consider teaching hospital status as a magnet for staff				

#### ORGANIZATIONAL OUTCOMES

J – Related to the indicators **"Turnover rates"** mark (**X**) the degree of importance on a scale of 1 to 4 where 1 means "Not important" and 4 means "Very Important":

	Item	1	2	3	4
J1	To consider monitoring turnover rates at both organisation and unit				
	level with the aim of identifying patterns and addressing the cause.				
J2	To consider formal exit interviews for staff leaving the organisation				

L – Related to the indicators "Mortality level" mark (X) the degree of importance on a scale of 1 to 4 where 1 means "Not important" and 4 means "Very Important":

ltem	1	2	3	4
L1 To consider ongoing analysis of mortality statistics				
L2 To consider review of cases to identify				

M – Related to the indicators **"Bed occupancy rate"** mark (**X**) the degree of importance on a scale of 1 to 4 where 1 means "Not important" and 4 means "Very Important":

	Item	1	2	3	4
M1	To consider reallocation of human resources according to				
	occupancy rates				
M2	To consider monitoring occupancy rates and associated workloads				
	with a view to increasing staff numbers				

N – Related to the indicator "Adverse incidents occurrence" mark (X) the degree of importance on a scale of 1 to 4 where 1 means "Not important" and 4 means "Very Important":

	Item	1	2	3	4
N1	To consider risk management protocol in the organisation and				
	associated training for nurses				
N2	To consider training around clinical protocols				
N3	Review and analysis of Adverse incident data with particular				
	emphasis on missed care episodes				
N4	To consider Root Cause Analysis of missed care incidents				
N5	To consider analysis of safety culture at unit and organisational level				

O – Related to the indicator "Complaint rates" mark (X) the degree of importance on a scale of 1 to 4 where 1 means "Not important" and 4 means "Very Important":

Item 1 2 3 4
O1 To consider formal review of complaints for episodes of missed care

Thank you!

## 10 APPENDIX 2 – CHECKLIST FOR THIS GUIDANCE DOCUMENT

# REVIEW OF THE RANCARE GUIDANCE DOCUMENT "PROMOTING PATIENT SAFETY THROUGH MINIMISING MISSED NURSING CARE: A RECOMMENDED GOOD PRACTICE GUIDANCE FOR NURSING MANAGERS" USING THE RIGHT CHECKLIST<sup>1</sup>

SECTION/TOPIC	NO	ITEM	PAGE	INCLUDED/ COMMENTS
		BASIC INFORMATION		
Title/subtitle	1a	Identify the report as a guideline, that is, with "guideline(s)" or "recommendation(s)" in the title.	Front page	Yes, however the title says it is a guidance
	1b	Describe the year of publication of the guideline	Front page	Yes
	1c	Describe the focus of the guideline, such as screening, diagnosis, treatment, management, prevention or others.	8	Yes
Executive summary	2	Provide a summary of the recommendations contained in the guideline.	8, 9	Yes
Abbreviations and acronyms	3	Define new or key terms, and provide a list of abbreviations and acronyms if applicable	27	Glossary
Corresponding developer	4	Identify at least one corresponding developer or author who can be contacted about the guideline	Front page, 8	Yes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Chen Y, Yang K, Marušić A, Qaseem A, Meerpohl JJ, Flottorp S, Akl EA, Schünemann HJ, Chan ESY, Falck-Ytter Y, Ahmed F, Barber S, Chen C, Zhang M, Xu B, Tian J, Song F, Shang H, Tang K, Wang Q, Norris SL; for the RIGHT (Reporting Items for Practice Guidelines in Healthcare) Working Group. A Reporting Tool for Practice Guidelines in Health Care: The RIGHT Statement. Ann Intern Med. 2017;166(2):128-132.

SECTION/TOPIC	NO	ITEM	PAGE	INCLUDED/ COMMENTS			
BACKGROUND							
Brief description of the health problem(s)	5	Describe the basic epidemiology of the problem, such as the prevalence/ incidence, morbidity, mortality, and burden (including financial) resulting from the problem	10	Yes			
Aim(s) of the guideline and specific objectives	6	Describe the aim(s) of the guideline and specific objectives, such as improvements in health indicators (e.g., mortality and disease prevalence), quality of life, or cost savings.	9	Yes			
Target population(s)	7a	Describe the aim(s) of the guideline and specific objectives, such as improvements in health indicators (e.g., mortality and disease prevalence), quality of life, or cost savings.	9, 10	Yes			
	7b	Describe any subgroups that are given special consideration in the guideline	8	Yes			
End- users and settings	8a	Describe the intended primary users of the guideline (such as primary care providers, clinical specialists, public health practitioners, program managers, and policy-makers) and other potential users of the guideline.	8	Yes			
	8b	Describe the setting(s) for which the guideline is intended, such as primary care, low- and middle-income countries, or in-patient	8	Yes			
Guideline development groups	9a	Describe how all contributors to the guideline development were selected and their roles and responsibilities (e.g., steering group, guideline panel, external reviewer, systematic review team, and methodologists).	16–18	The process of developing the guidance has been detailed in this document			
	9b	List all individuals involved in developing the guideline, including their title, role(s) and institutional affiliation(s).	Front page, 8	Yes			

SECTION/TOPIC	NO	ITEM	PAGE	INCLUDED/ COMMENTS		
EVIDENCE						
Healthcare questions	10a	State the key questions that were the basis for the recommendations in PICO (population, intervention, comparator, and outcome) or another format as appropriate.	10–17	Yes, this has been addressed in the background		
	10b	Indicate how the outcomes were selected and sorted.	16, 17			
Systematic reviews	11a	Indicate whether the guideline is based on new systematic reviews done specifically for this guideline or whether existing systematic reviews were used.	28-38	Not applicable, however, a literature review based upon the RANCARE collective knowledge has been provided in the background. References and resources has been supplied		
	11b	If the guideline developers used existing systematic reviews, reference these and describe how those reviews were identified and assessed (provide the search strategies and the selection criteria, and describe how the risk of bias was evaluated) and whether they were updated.		Not applicable		
Assessment of the certainty of the body of evidence	12	Describe the approach used to assess the certainty of the body of evidence.	16–18	Yes, this has been described		

SECTION/TOPIC	NO	ITEM	PAGE	INCLUDED/ COMMENTS
		RECOMMENDATIONS		
Recommen- dations	13a	Provide clear, precise, and actionable recommendations.	19–25	Provided
	13b	Present separate recommendations for important subgroups if the evidence suggests that there are important differences in factors influencing recommendations, particularly the balance of benefits and harms across subgroups.		This has been described
	13c	Indicate the strength of recommendations and the certainty of the supporting evidence.	17–19	A scoring and feedback to RANCARE researchers was used
Rationale/ explanation for recommen- dations	14a	Describe whether values and preferences of the target population(s) were considered in the formulation of each recommendation. If yes, describe the approaches and methods used to elicit or identify these values and preferences. If values and preferences were not considered, provide an explanation.	16	
	14b	Describe whether cost and resource implications were considered in the formulation of recommendations. If yes, describe the specific approaches and methods used (such as cost-effectiveness analysis) and summarize the results. If resource issues were not considered, provide an explanation.		This was not addressed
	14c	Describe other factors taken into consideration when formulating the recommendations, such as equity, feasibility and acceptability	17	Yes
Evidence to decision processes	15	Describe the processes and approaches used by the guideline development group to make decisions, particularly the formulation of recommendations (such as how consensus was defined and achieved and whether voting was used).	17, 18	Yes

SECTION/TOPIC	NO	ITEM	PAGE	INCLUDED/ COMMENTS			
REVIEW AND QUALITY ASSURANCE							
External review	16	Indicate whether the draft guideline underwent independent review and, if so, how this was executed, and the comments considered and addressed.	3, 18	Ongoing review across the whole year at a variety of locations and contexts			
Quality assurance	17	Indicate whether the guideline was subjected to a quality assurance process.  If yes, describe the process.	17, 18	Yes			
	FUN	IDING, DECLARATION AND MANAGEMENT OF I	NTEREST				
Funding source(s) and	18a	Describe the specific sources of funding for all stages of guideline development.	2, 8	Yes			
role(s) of the funder	18b	Describe the role of funder(s) in the different stages of guideline development and in the dissemination and implementation of the recommendations.	2, 8	Yes			
Declaration and management of interest	19a	Describe what types of conflicts (financial and non-financial) were relevant to guideline development.		Nil noted			
	19b	Describe how conflicts of interest were evaluated and managed and how users of the guideline can access the declarations.  OTHER INFORMATION		Not applicable			
Access	20	Describe where the guideline, its	Front	Yes			
//ccc33	20	appendices, and other related documents can be accessed.	page	103			
Suggestions for further research	21	Describe the gaps in the evidence and/or provide suggestions for future research.	28	Yes – References and resources			
Limitations of the guideline	22	Describe any limitations in the guideline development process (such as the development groups were not multidisciplinary or patients' values and preferences were not sought), and indicate how these limitations might have affected the validity of the recommendations.	25	Yes			

#### PROMOTING PATIENT SAFETY THROUGH MINIMISING MISSED NURSING CARE

care (organizational structure and care delivery process), and to identifying potential or actual missed care through outcomes (patient outcomes, nurse outcomes and organizational outcomes).

#### A RECOMMENDED GOOD PRACTICE **GUIDANCE FOR NURSING MANAGERS**

Part I:

**INDICATORS AND FACTORS TO PREVENT MISSED CARE** 

Part II:

**IDENTIFYING POTENTIAL OR ACTUAL** MISSED CARE THROUGH OUTCOMES



#### **ORGANIZATIONAL** STRUCTURE

- Nurse staffing levels and skill mix
- Nursing leadership
- · Quality of the practice environment



#### **PATIENT OUTCOMES**

- · Patient satisfaction
- · Adverse incidents occurrence
- · Length of stay
- · Quality of care



#### **CARE DELIVERY PROCESS**



#### **NURSE OUTCOMES**

- Burnout levels







#### **ORGANIZATIONAL OUTCOMES**

- Turnover rates
- Mortality level
- Bed occupancy rate
- Adverse incidents
- Complaint rates

WRITTEN AND COMPILED BY AUTHORS: RAUL CORDEIRO, PhD, RN, MSc, Polytechnic Institute of Portalegre, Portugal, raulco MARCIA KIRWAN, PhD, MSc, RGN, School of Nursing, Psychotherapy and Community Health, Dublin City

University, Ireland.
CLARE HARVEY, PhD, RH, BA(Cur), MA, Central Queensland University, Australia
CRISTOSAL RENGEL-DIAZ, PhD, RN, Midwife, Virgen de la Victoria Universitary Hospital Málaga, Associate
Professor Malaga Quiversity, Spain
MARIA PLIAR FUNTER PhD, RN, Narsing Department, Universitar Internacional de Catalunya, Barcelona, Sp
OLGA RIKLIKHENE (Lithuania), PhD, RN, BSN, MSPH, Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Lithuania

Developed by Rosana Svetic-Cisic, ENDA

RAUL CORDEIRO, MARCIA KIRWAN, CLARE HARVEY, CRISTOBAL RENGEL-DIAZ, MARIA PILAR FUSTER, OLGA RIKLIKIENE

#### PROMOTING PATIENT SAFETY THROUGH MINIMISING MISSED NURSING CARE

A RECOMMENDED GOOD PRACTICE GUIDANCE FOR NURSE MANAGERS

Designer Jelena Babachina

2020-04-30. 3,25 printer's sheets.

Published by LSMU Publishing House A. Mickevičiaus 9, LT-44307 Kaunas, Lithuania

ISBN 978-9955-15-648-2 eISBN 978-9955-15-647-5

